
 
 

 
April 19, 2024 
 
 
Zach Pelz, Principal 
AKS Engineering & Forestry, LLC 
3700 River Road N., Suite 1 
Keizer, OR 97303-5699 
 
 
RE: Status of CU 24-01, DR 24-01, & ZA 24-01 “US Market gas station” at 2115 Molalla Rd (Tax Lots 

051W09B001000, 1100, & 1200 [primary]) 
 
Dear Mr. Pelz: 
 
Staff reviewed the degree of completion of the Conditional Use (CU) consolidated applications 
package for the subject property with materials submitted January 23, 2024 with revised and 
additional materials received March 22 (electronic) & 25 (print) and April 1 (TIA) & 17 (site plan), 
2024 and determined it incomplete as of April 19, 2024.  Staff sends this letter to demonstrate 
compliance with Oregon Revised Statutes (ORS) 227.178(2). 
 
This letter is divided into two parts: 

• Part I:  Missing items required to make the application package complete; and 

• Part II:  Recommendations and initial site plan revision directions that are optional for a 
completeness response by the applicant and, if the applicant defers, would be resolved by the 
time of conditioning. 

 
Section references are to the Woodburn Development Ordinance (WDO). 
 
Italicized items below are from the February 22 incompleteness letter. 
  

mailto:pelzz@aks-eng.com
https://www.oregonlegislature.gov/bills_laws/ors/ors227.html
https://www.woodburn-or.gov/dev-planning/page/woodburn-development-ordinance-wdo
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Part I 
 
 
B. Frontage/street improvements:  Revise the Sheet L100 landscape plan to: 

1. Indicate in the legend for each tree species either the size category at maturity as Table 
3.06B describes or height in feet at maturity. 

 
The revise landscape plan (Sheet L100) illustrates and notes the proposed street species as one 
reaching a mature height of 45 to 50 feet (ft).  WDO Table 3.06B row 3 defines medium size 
category at maturity as 40-60 ft height.   
 
3.06.03A.2a requires along the highway, which is “Major Arterial” class, large trees.  Table 
3.06B row 2 defines these as 60-120 ft height. 
 
Revise the street tree species to a large one. 
 
 

D. Driveway:  Regarding the proposed driveway at 26 feet width: 
1. Submit Woodburn Fire District documentation allowing the developer to make use of Table 

3.04A footnote 7 and revise the narrative under 3.04.04 to refer to the documentation. 
 
The applicant’s response memo of March 22, 2024 stated (p. 2): 
 

“Applicant’s original submittal incorrectly attributed the need for a 26-foot wide driveway to safe fire 
and emergency service access/egress. The planned 26-foot wide driveway at Molalla Road is 
necessary to accommodate safe and efficient turning movements for fuel trucks and other delivery 
vehicles that will routinely access the site. A 26-foot wide driveway accommodates right turns onto 
Molalla Road, by fuel trucks and large delivery vehicles, without the need to enter into the eastbound 
lane of travel. Subsequently, this additional driveway width will help to improve the safety of 
motorists traveling on Molalla Road and will avoid disruption to the normal traffic operation of the 
roadway (see the truck turning model on the Preliminary Site Plan in Attachment 2).” 

 
The site plan (Sheet C100) illustrates turning movement that doesn’t need 26 ft of width, and 
in any case the description above doesn’t affect the applicability of the WDO standard.   

Note:  Zoning Adjustment (ZA) of maximum driveway width to 26 ft is permissible per 
5.02.06C.19c – with a ZA application including a revised uniform application form, ZA fee 
payment of $3,520 per the Planning Division fee schedule, and application materials that 
address the factors and meet the criteria of 5.02.06B; however, staff doesn’t see how a 
proposal could meet criteria 1, 3, & 5 and would be disinclined to recommend approval. 

Revise the site plans (or apply for ZA). 
 
 
 

https://www.woodburn-or.gov/dev-planning/page/variance-or-zoning-adjustment-application
https://www.woodburn-or.gov/dev-planning/page/uniform-application-form
https://www.woodburn-or.gov/dev-planning/page/planning-division-fee-schedule
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I. Walkway islands/peninsulas:  To conform with 3.06.03C.4, revise the site and landscape plans to 
provide a landscaped island or peninsula along the west side of the wide walkway where it passes 
through the parking aisle at the convenience store.  (Revision could change the walkway 
alignment.) 

 

 
Exhibit I 

 
The applicant’s response memo of March 22, 2024 stated (pages 5-6): 

 
“As required in the accessible parking space requirements in Oregon Revised Statutes (ORS) 
447.233(2)(d), the access aisle for an accessible parking space shall be located on the passenger side of 
the parking space except that two adjacent accessible parking spaces may share a common access aisle. 
Only one accessible parking space is provided; therefore, the realignment of the walkway on the driver’s 
side of the accessible stall so that it is immediately adjacent to the landscape island is not feasible 
without losing a parking space. The wide walkway is still positioned near the landscape island, allowing it 
to benefit from the shade provided by the landscaping. Similarly, the close proximity of the crossing point 
to the convenience store roof overhang and the fueling area canopy guarantees ample shade for 
pedestrians, fulfilling the intended purpose of this standard.” 

 
The description above doesn’t affect the applicability of the WDO standard.   
 
Revise the site plans (or apply for a variance). 

 
 

O. Queueing:  There appears too little room for vehicle queues at the pumps, and the application 
materials lack information about how queueing and circulation would operate.  Guiding questions 
include: 

1. Is queueing one way? 
2. Are some pumps allocated for self-serve and others for attendant service or “mini serve”? 
3. What signage and striping should the site plans illustrate and note to describe intended 

queueing? 
4. How is queueing handled in the field during operations?  
5. What would prevent queued vehicles from backing up onto the highway? 
6. Because the site plan indicates no attendant booth, where and how would the attendant(s) 

be stationed? 
  

https://www.oregonlegislature.gov/bills_laws/ors/ors447.html
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The applicant’s response memo of March 22, 2024 stated (pages 5-6): 
 

“This project involves the construction of a small-scale gasoline station. Typically, such establishments do 
not require excessive dedicated queuing space due to the specific characteristics of their operations and 
customer behavior. In contrast to larger discount or membership-based gas stations like Fred Meyer and 
Costco, where lengthy queues are common due to high customer volumes and competitive pricing, 
smaller gas stations generally cater to a more localized customers with lower traffic volumes resulting 
from pass-by trips. Customers at small gas stations are inclined to stop only if they perceive that their 
wait will be brief, thereby minimizing the need for extensive queuing areas. 
 
Upon entering the site via the driveway, customers typically proceed directly toward the convenience 
store. The proposed design includes six fueling spaces and approximately 60 feet of available queuing 
area (refer to Figure 1), which would accommodate approximately three additional vehicles. No queuing 
concerns are anticipated. This item is complete.” 

 
The response ended with a graphic exhibit: 

 
“Figure 1: Queuing Area 

” 
 
The response doesn’t address the item and guiding questions, particularly Question 3. 
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Part II 
 
Part II anticipates developer actions and revisions, whether before or after public hearing and 
ideally before staff finalizes conditions of approval.  Read in whole first, taking notes, before asking 
staff to clarify or revising app materials.  I’d be happy to set up a virtual meeting between staff and 
the applicant or applicant’s team to help understand the items and continue discussion from 
there.  A phone call to me would also suffice, (503) 980-2485. 
 
 
EE. Front yard trees:  Looking ahead to conditioning, to better buffer the gas station from the 

south, please revise the site plans to: 
(1) Deepen the front yard landscaping by 3 ft and add a row of at least 3 trees to complement 

street tree locations; and 

(2) Add to the highway landscape strip, between street trees, a row of evergreen shrubbery of 
at least 21 plant units (PUs) of small to medium size category at maturity as Table 3.06B 
defines. 

 
Notes: 

• A 10-foot wide streetside PUE is required per WDO Figure 3.01B “Major Arterial”; 

• The Public Works Department Engineering Division dislikes newly planted trees in PUEs; 

• The streetside PUE almost wholly overlaps the front yard landscaped area behind curbing; 

• Planting trees necessitates a deeper landscaped area, extending north; 

• An additional 3 ft width of landscaping along the front yard landscaped area would be 
enough to plant trees just outside the streetside PUE boundary and have adequate room 
on the north side for growth, similar to the 3-foot width of half of a conventional street 
landscape strip; and 

• Room can be found and taken from the three east-west drive aisle widths, the north one of 
which is 27 ft wide, and from the landscaped peninsula and island that are in the north rear 
yard, the island at its narrowest point being 7 ft wide. 
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In closing, please provide to my attention all revised and new materials both in print (3 copies of 
site plans plotted at site plan size and 2 copies of other documents) and in Adobe PDF files. 
Acceptable print sizes are letter, ledger, and 24” x 36” plan size.  Include a cover letter quoting and 
addressing each incompleteness item, referencing the plan set and sheet(s) or other document(s) 
and page number(s) that address each item. 
 
You may email the PDF files if the total attachments remain under 10MB in size. Either a USB 
thumb drive or use of a file sharing website are also acceptable means to convey electronic files, 
and staff prefers a file sharing service. 
 
Please contact me at (503) 980-2485 or colin.cortes@ci.woodburn.or.us with questions.   
 
Sincerely, 

 
Colin Cortes, AICP, CNU-A 
Senior Planner 
 
 
cc: Architect:  Ronald “Ron” Ped, President/Architect, Ronald James Ped Architect, PC, 1220 20th St SE, Ste  

125, Salem, OR 97302-1205 
Chris Kerr, Community Development Director 
Dan Handel, Planner 
Cassandra Martinez, Administrative Specialist 
Curtis Stultz, Public Works Director 
Dago Garcia, P.E., City Engineer 

 
 
Enclosure: 

1. Site and landscape plans (April 17, 2024; 2 sheets) 
 
file(s): CU 24-01, DR 24-01, & ZA 24-01 “US Market gas station” at 2115 Molalla Rd (Tax Lots 

051W09B001000, 1100, & 1200 (primary); Accela record no. 971-24-000006-PLNG; AKS Engineering 
& Forestry job number 9438 

mailto:colin.cortes@ci.woodburn.or.us
mailto:ahunt@4gdev.com
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